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Preface 
 

I only recently learned about the extraordinary history and meaning of the Decatur Annex. 

Talking to neighbors who have lived here since the 1950’s, and local historians, I 

discovered this modest building in northeast Seattle was part of the Navy’s new policy, 

beginning in WWII, pushed by President and Mrs. Roosevelt and formalized by President 

Truman in Executive Order 9981 in 1948, to expand integration to include a broader 

range of duties and social environments.  

[From Wikipedia: Executive Order 9981 is an executive order issued on July 26, 1948, by 

President Harry S. Truman. It abolished discrimination "on the basis of race, color, religion 

or national origin" in the United States Armed Forces. The executive order eventually led 

to the end of segregation in the services.”]     

The Navy saw an opportunity in the west at Sand Point Naval Air Station.  A black band 

from Chicago was recruited to replace the white Navy band, called the Jive Bombers when 

they sold War Bonds, who became the root of Seattle’s Jackson Street jazz scene.  

Servicemen were trained as mechanics and yeomen sailors.  WAVES were trained as Navy 

Officers to replace men serving overseas. 

The radical nature of the Navy’s non-discrimination policy can only be appreciated in the 

context of the deeply embedded systemic racism of the time. Navy leadership had the 

support of the newly minted Seattle Housing Authority under the leadership of Jessie 

Epstein. He believed that there should be no discrimination by race, creed, or religion for 

access to low-cost public housing. Indeed, the first integrated public housing in the 

country was Yesler Terrace, built in Seattle and completed in 1941.  

The Second World War diverted federal funding from low-income public housing to low-

income military housing for workers and service men and women. Decatur Annex is the 

only building left from the Navy’s Shearwater Housing Project, built in 1945. Originally the 

Shearwater Administration and Community Center, the building stands for the Navy’s 

policy of integrating their service, Jesse Epstein’s vision for equitable low-income housing, 
and the multi-cultural families who made Shearwater their home.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                            2  



Acknowledgments  
 

I would like to thank Valarie Bunn and Lynn Ferguson for their support. Valarie Bunn introduced 

me to sources in Seattle where historical city documents are available to the public, and her 

excellent blog, Wedgwood in Seattle History, provided much useful information and sources. Lynn 

Ferguson is the current president of the Friends of Sand Point Magnuson Park Historic District and 

has provided significant guidance. Her successful landmark nomination for buildings at the Navy’s 

Sand Point Naval Air Station, was inspirational, and a fascinating source of information.  

The Johnson Partnership, Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report (2018) provided substantive 

documentation and photography relating to the physical environment and condition of Decatur 

Annex, which was very useful in preparing this Landmark nomination. 

Photographs not otherwise credited, are provided by Ruth Fruland, taken in August and 

September of this year, 2018. 

Cynthia Mejia-Giudici is a neighbor who lived in Shearwater housing as a child, and whose Filipino 

family has lived in Wedgwood since 1956. She has worked with me to preserve the Decatur Annex, 

because she remembers it vividly from personal experience. It is Cynthia who knows the feeling 

and meaning of racial discrimination, and the true significance of Decatur Annex in Seattle’s 

history. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                            3  



Table of Contents 
 

 

Landmarks Preservation Board Nomination Form Property Data ______________________ 1 

Preface _______________________________________________________________________________________ 2 

Acknowledgments ___________________________________________________________________________ 3 

Table of Contents ____________________________________________________________________________ 4 

Table of Figures _____________________________________________________________________________ 5 

Physical Description ________________________________________________________________________ 8 

      Physical Description of the Decatur Annex Building Site _____________________________ 8 

      Physical Description of the Decatur Annex Building __________________________________ 9 

      Description of Decatur Annex Alterations _____________________________________________ 14 

Statement of Significance ___________________________________________________________________ 16 

      Landmark Criteria _______________________________________________________________________ 16 

      Historical Context of Racial Discrimination and Segregation ________________________ 17 

      WWII Navy Policy ________________________________________________________________________ 19 

      Jessie Epstein and Seattle Housing Authority Policy __________________________________ 20 

      Conclusion ________________________________________________________________________________ 22 

References ___________________________________________________________________________________ 24 

Figure / Signature page _____________________________________________________________________ 26 

Figures and Photographs ___________________________________________________________________ 27 

Appendix 1 ___________________________________________________________________________________ 47 

     “Appendix A” Decatur Annex 2018 Johnson Partnership Report 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                                                                                                                                            4  



Table of Figures 
 

Figure 1. Map locating Wedgwood within the city of Seattle ____________________________ 27 

Figure 2. Map of Northeast District Council Community neighborhoods _______________ 27 

Figure 3. Map of Wedgwood ________________________________________________________________ 27 

Figure 4. Aerial view Shearwater housing, Decatur School and Annex, 

                  with Sand Point Naval Air Station in the distance, 1963 ______________________ 28 

Figure 5. Aerial view Shearwater housing, Decatur School and Annex, 1965 __________ 28 

Figure 6. Google view of Seattle ____________________________________________________________ 29 

Figure 7. Google view of Wedgwood and Sand Point Magnuson Park __________________ 29 

Figure 8. Google plan view of block with Thornton/Decatur Schools, Annex __________ 30 

Figure 9. Topography image of Seattle ____________________________________________________ 31 

Figure 10. Topography image of Seattle Northeast neighborhoods _____________________ 31 

Figure 11. Geologic map of Wedgwood, Northeast Seattle area _________________________ 32 

Figure 12. Map of Thornton Creek Watershed next to Decatur School/Annex _________ 32 

Figure 13. Google plan view image of Decatur Annex ____________________________________ 33 

Figure 14. Floor plan, 1998, of Decatur Annex ____________________________________________ 33 

Figure 15. Street view of Decatur Annex from the SW on NE 77th St ____________________ 34 

Figure 16. Street view of Decatur Annex from the NE on 43rd Ave NE __________________ 34 

Figure 17. Tilted Google Map aerial view of Decatur Annex from the East _____________ 35 

Figure 18. Street view Eastern Section ____________________________________________________ 36 

Figure 19. Street view, NE corner of Decatur Annex______________________________________ 36 

Figure 20. Street view, East side of Decatur Annex _______________________________________ 37 

Figure 21. Close up of windows, East side of Decatur Annex ____________________________ 37 

Figure 22. Eastern Section, North side, eastern end ______________________________________ 38 

Figure 23. Eastern Section, North side, west of, but overlapping with Figure 22 ______ 38 

Figure 24. Eastern Section, North side, west of, but overlapping with Figure 23 ______ 39 

Figure 25. Eastern Section, North side, west of, but overlapping with Figure 24 ______ 39 

Figure 26. Eastern Section, North side, west of, but overlapping with Figure 25 ______ 40 

Figure 27. Eastern Section, North side, abutting Central Section, image 
                    overlapping with Figure 26 _____________________________________________________ 40 

                                                                                                                                                                            5  



 

Figure 28. Central Section, North side, west, overlapping with Figure 27 ______________ 41 

Figure 29. Central Section, North side, west of, and contiguous with the Western  
                     Section, image overlapping with Figure 28 ___________________________________ 41 

Figure 30. Central Section, Northern Exposure, west, overlapping  
                     slightly with Figure 29 __________________________________________________________ 42 

Figure 31. Western Section, North side, west of, but overlapping with Figure 30 _____ 42 

Figure 32. Western Section, West Side of Decatur Annex ________________________________ 43 

Figure 33. SW corner view of Western Section ___________________________________________ 43 

Figure 34. Central Section, South side, close up of window frame ______________________ 44 

Figure 35. Central Section, South side _____________________________________________________ 44 

Figure 36. Redline map of Seattle, 1936 ___________________________________________________ 45 

Figure 37. Cover of 6th Annual Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) Report _______________ 45 

Figure 38. Number of families housed by the SHA between 1941-1945 ________________ 45 

Figure 39. Cover 8th Annual Report of the SHA, 1948 ____________________________________ 46 

Figure 40. Image from the 8th Annual Report of the SHA, 1948 _________________________ 46 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                                                                                            6 



Introduction 
 

The purpose of this Landmark application is to present the case for designating the Decatur Annex 

in the northeast neighborhood of Wedgwood as a Seattle Landmark.  The Seattle Public School 

District is the owner of the property.. 

The building stands as a witness to racial integration of the Navy’s military service, the first 

integration of neighborhoods where the Seattle Housing Authority built low-income homes, and 

the first integration of the public schools in these communities. Seattle was the first city in the 

Nation to implement such racial policies peacefully more than a decade before desegregation 

became an issue in the rest of the country.  

For whatever reason, this history was not discovered by previous research, and therefore not 

presented in the BOLA report, SEPA checklist, or Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report.  

This nomination presents the historic context and evidence that Decatur Annex itself is worth 

recognizing for its “Historic and Cultural” significance. It is a small building, as Lynn Ferguson has 

pointed out, but it tells a big story. 
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Physical Description 

Introduction 

Originally the Shearwater Community Center, now Decatur Annex, the building is located at 7725 

43rd Ave NE, on the eastern edge of the Wedgwood Neighborhood in northeast Seattle. Figure 1 

locates Wedgwood within the City of Seattle. Figure 2 shows Wedgwood along with the other 

neighborhoods that comprise the Northeast District Council (NEDC). Figure 3 locates Decatur 

Annex and Shearwater housing in the southeast corner of the Wedgwood neighborhood.  

Decatur Annex is the last remaining building from the Navy’s Shearwater Housing Project, which 

was built in the Wedgwood neighborhood in 1945-46 (Seattle Housing Authority Report #8, 

1948). As WWII expanded, increasing numbers of servicemen and workers were needed to 

support the US war effort at Sand Point, resulting in a severe shortage of low-cost housing. 

Wedgwood was chosen  because it had an area of undeveloped land that was also near the Sand 

Point Naval Air Station (NAS, Figure 4).  

The Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) was contracted by the Navy to build and administer the 

Shearwater Housing Project specifically for military families at Sand Point NAS. With the abrupt 

end of WWII, housing remained in critical demand, because many people who had moved to 

Seattle decided to stay. As Figure 5 shows, Shearwater Housing remained in use into the 1960’s. 

Figure 6 is a Google Earth image of present-day Seattle and its northeast communities. Figure 7 

shows how close Shearwater was to Sand Point Naval Air Station. Figure 8 is a 2018 Google Earth 

plan-view close up of the entire block, showing the location of the new Thornton Creek Elementary 

School, the original Decatur Elementary School, and Decatur Annex. 

Decatur Annex Site 

Topography 

The shape of Seattle’s surface has been sculpted by periodic advances and retreats of glaciers over 

approximately the last 800,000 years. Glacial processes both removed and deposited rocks and 

sediments, creating a landscape of elongate hills and valleys, lakes, and Puget Sound itself (Figure 

9). Decatur Annex is situated on level ground ~300 feet in elevation toward the top of a 

drumlinoid hill, which has a relatively steep slope towards the east and Sandpoint. Sand Point 

Historic District and Magnuson Park include level areas, as well as low hills and vales (Figure 10).  

Geology 

Decatur Annex is built on glacial deposits that consist of layers of clayey, sandy, and hard-packed, 

poorly-sorted, gravelly sediments. Figure 11 is a geologic map of the area. Decatur Annex rests on 

a hard-packed, gravelly deposit called glacial till. Till is “nature’s concrete,” and consists of a fine-

grained matrix of clay and silt, with pebbles and rocks of all sizes packed together. Unlike sandy 

and clayey deposits, till does not easily crumble or form slippery surfaces that may lead to 

landslides or earthquake damage. There have been several notable earthquakes since Decatur 

Annex was built, but the exterior of the building shows no visible signs of earthquake damage. 

Potential earthquake damage is always possible, but is much less of a threat to Decatur Annex 

because there are no nearby active faults, and it is on level ground composed of glacial till.  
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Thornton Creek Watershed 

Ironically, Thornton Creek Elementary School, as well as Decatur Elementary School and Annex, 

are just south and west of the Thornton Creek Watershed, as indicated in Figure 12. However, 

several Thornton Creek ravines are within a block or two of the schools. Thornton Creek drains a 

7,402-acre (11 sq. mile) urban landscape, extending roughly from NE 190th St. in the City of 

Shoreline to NE 80th St in the Wedgwood neighbor. 

Today, Thornton Creek is the largest watershed in Seattle, and discharges into Lake Washington at 

Matthews Beach. Historically, it was the natal headwaters of at least five salmon and trout species.  

The potential for flooding is extremely low at the location of Decatur Annex.   

Decatur Annex Description 

Site 

The site where Decatur Annex is located is in the southeast corner of a multiple-block site that 

includes Decatur Elementary School immediately to its north, and Thornton Creek Elementary 

School to its west. The block is bounded on the east by 43rd Ave NE, the south by NE 77th St, the 

west by 40th Ave NE, and the north by NE 80th St. There is parking for Thornton Creek Elementary 

School north of it on the West side of the block, and parking for Decatur Elementary School in the 

NE corner. The northwestern corner of the block is grassy playing fields, and to the east, there is a 

memorial and playground areas. The entire site is clearly defined in Figure 8, which is a USGS 

image downloaded from Google Earth. The level site has about three feet of grade change.  

The location is in the suburban neighborhood of Wedgwood, with nice landscaping and many trees 
around the houses, most built in the second half of the 20th Century.  The homes range from 

modest one-story houses, including early 20th Century houses, multi-family apartments, and, 

recently, a surge in much larger (oversized for the lots) new houses replacing original ones. The 

Johnson Partnership “Appendix A” Report (Appendix 1, p. A-2-3) includes photos of the 

neighborhood around Decatur Annex, as well as a site plan of the entire block site showing city 

parcels (Appendix 1, p A-4). However, its site plan does not identify the memorial or play ground 

areas, and Decatur Annex is mislabeled as “7711” 43rd Ave NE” rather than its correct address of 

7725 43rd Ave NE (per LPB 282/18, from Erin Doherty, August 29, 2018).  

Decatur Annex’s immediate surroundings are landscaped on the south and east sides, and 

negligible on the north and west. The grounds in front of the southern and eastern sides are grass-

covered, with native shrubs and trees (Figure 13). A large, significant western cedar tree is in the 

southeast corner of the block (see also Figures 14-20). It has already been determined that the tree 

is to protected and will not be removed from the site (SEPA, 2018). The grounds on the northern 

and western sides are bare asphalt up to the concrete foundation, except for a few weeds. There 

are no visible signs of black mold on the exterior of the building. 

Architecture 

The Shearwater Community Center was built in 1945 by the Seattle Housing Authority (A Place to 

Live, The Housing Authority of the City of Seattle 8th Annual Report, 1948).  Standard construction 

methods and materials were used to create the one-story, platform-frame, gable-roofed building in 

the mid-20th Century “vernacular” style. 
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Today, Decatur Annex’s exterior is white-painted cedar lap siding with dark green painted trim. 

There are numerous windows on all sides of the building, with more on the south-facing side, of 

either aluminum, vinyl, or original fixed-wood-sash window construction, a few with decorative 

shutters. The pitched roof is covered by overlapping asphalt shingles. The building’s floor is 

approximately two feet above ground level, connected to a concrete foundation with crawlspace. 

Crawlspace openings are currently covered by screens or boards.  

Figure 13 is a plan-view close-up of the Decatur Building showing three distinct sections, which 

will be described below (USGS image, provided on Google Earth, 2018). Figure 14 is a Seattle 

Public School District floor plan of Decatur Annex dated 1998. It shows the locations of external 

doors, windows, stairs, and accessibility ramps, as well as  interior classrooms, offices, hallways, 

storage, bathrooms and mechanical. 

Together Figures 13 and 14 clearly shows Decatur Annex is composed of three contiguous 

sections. They are referred to as the Eastern Section, Central Section, and Western Section in The 

Johnson Partnership Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report (Appendix 1, p. 3). On Decatur’s north side, 

the Western Section’s roof extends to cover an interior hallway that connects the Western Section 

to the Central Section. As seen in Figures 13 and 14, the Central Section is offset to the south by 

about three feet, so it that much closer to NE 77th St on the south, and inset a similar distance on 

the north. 

Decatur Annex is a long, one-story, irregularly-shaped rectangular building that is difficult to 

capture in single street views. Figure 15 is an attempt to do so from the west end of the south side.  

Figure 16 is an attempt to do so from the east end of the north side. The north side faces Decatur 

Elementary School across a narrow lane. Figure 17 is a tilted aerial Google Maps/Google Earth 

view of Decatur Annex from the east side looking towards the West; the roofs of all three sections 

are clearly visible, as well as a chimney and ventilation box. 

The Eastern section is the original 1945 Shearwater Community Center, and is both the longest 

and widest part of the existing structure, the E-W length is ~88 feet, and the N-S width ~36 feet 

wide (“Appendix A” Report is Appendix 1 of this nomination). The part of its roof that covers the 

entry way has a slightly lower pitch, which extends about four feet to cover the long porch area. 

The Central Section is the shortest and tallest section, measuring approximately 34 feet long (E-W) 

and 28 feet wide (N-S). It is offset to the south about four feet relative to the Eastern Section, 

extending about four feet closer to NE 77th St. Although its pitched roof is about three feet higher 

that the Eastern Section’s, its roof and the roof over the entry way porch extend south towards NE 

77th St the same distance. On the north side, the roof over the hallway is at the same elevation as 

the Western Section, and appears to be an extension of the Western Section’s roof. 

The Western Section is approximately 48 feet long (E-W) by about 24 feet wide (N-S).   

All three sections total about 169 feet in length.  

Building descriptions are provided below in the following order: beginning with the southern 

elevation of the original Eastern Section (the original Shearwater Community Center), next, the 

east-facing elevation of the Eastern Section, then proceeding around the Decatur Annex to the 

north-facing elevations of the East, North, and West sections, continuing with the west-facing 
elevation of the Western Section, then the southern elevation of the Western Section, ending with 

the southern elevation of the Central Section. 
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Some doors, and a number of windows are original to the Shearwater Community Center. 

Windows with wooden sashes may be original; vinyl and aluminum sashes indicate replacement 

windows. All green-painted wooden windows may be original. More research may be required 

to determine which windows are original with regard to what criteria.   

[Note: Wooden sashes, muntins, and window frames may indicate original windows from 

Shearwater Community Center construction (1945). Most Decatur windows are double-sash or 

double-hung, meaning there are two parts, or sashes, an upper and lower, of which one or both can 

be moved vertically up or down. The glass part of the sash may be further separated by muntins 

into separate panes of glass, or “true divided light” panes. A vertical muntin can also be used 

between windows to strengthen and connect a line of windows. 

Eastern Section (Original Shearwater Community Center). The Eastern Section was built in 1945 

or 1946 (SHA 8th Annual Report, 1948). The gable roof  follows the long East-West axis of the 

building. A short concrete-capped brick chimney stack is on the north side of the gable roof, along 

with a covered ventilation box (Figure 17). 

• South Side. The main entrance is on the south side of the Eastern Section facing south and 

NE 77th St, with several long concrete steps, and a ramp from the east end leading up to a 

covered porch in the center of the building (Figure 18). The ramp is overgrown by 

shrubbery. The porch has two painted wooden 4”x4” columns, and double entry doors in a 

recessed alcove about 2 feet deep. The entry doors are double doors with glass panes, 

surrounded by five-pane side windows, and topped by a three-pane transom, all with wood 

sashes and frames.  

Windows. The south/NE 77th St facing side of the eastern section has sixteen windows, 

three to the left of the entrance’s recessed doors and entry way windows, and thirteen to 

the right.  

o west of the entry door is a set of three double hung, two-light [wooden-] sash 

windows connected by green-painted wood muntins (Figure 18). 

o East of the entry door is a set of nine double-hung aluminum sash windows, “mulled 

together” with ~4.5-inch wooden mullions. Each sash has two “lights,” Figure 18. 

o Further to the east along the eastern end of the south-facing eastern section, is a set 

of four double-hung wood, two-light [wooden-] sash windows, also mulled together 

(i.e., contiguous), which may be original. See Figure 19.  

East Side. The eastern façade reveals an outline of the building’s cross section and symmetrical 

pitched roof. Its exterior wall has louvered ventilation near the apex. White-painted cedar lap 

siding is pealing in several places. Two pairs of what may be original windows are symmetrically 

placed toward the south and north sides. The wooden frame structure rests on a concrete 

foundation roughly two feet above ground level (Figure 20).  

Windows. According to the Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report prepared by The Johnson 

Partnership (2018), the east side “contains a separated pair of two [mulled together] fixed pane 

three-light wood sash windows original to the 1961 addition (See Appendix 1, “Appendix A” p. 

4).  

The original building was built circa 1945. The “Appendix A” report states the original 1945 

windows were replaced in 1961. Note: A closer look may be warranted. 
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North side. This side faces the Decatur School building to its north. It has a number of different 

styles of windows, louvered ventilation openings, metal pipes, rain drains, working and non-

working doors, three sets of wooden steps to platforms where doors to the inside can be accessed, 

a stretch of painted white brick exterior, concrete foundation, and a wheelchair-accessible ramp. 

Figures 22 through 31. 

 There are five doors, including on the north side of the Eastern Section (original Shearwater 

Community Center).  

 The eastern-most door on the northern side is a white-painted wooden double door with a 

three light transom [three glass-paneled rectangular window] above it, and a grade-level sill 

(bottom frame of a door). “Grade-level” means the base of the door is at ground level. It is 

neither on the concrete foundation (which it appears to be cut into) or at the finished floor 

level. These doors may be original. See Figure 22. 

 The next door a few feet to the west, is a single, white-painted wooden door, with its sill at the 

finished floor level above the concrete foundation. It does not appear to be a working door 

because there are no steps leading to it from ground level.  

 The next door immediately to the right and just past a rain spout, is a functional flush-mounted 

light-green-painted wooden door, also at finished floor level. There are three wooden steps 

leading from ground level on the western side, to a top deck and the door. See Figure 23.  

 A section of windows is immediately to the west of the first three doors. 

 The first window to the east on the north side of the Eastern Section appears in Figure 23, 

about four feet to the west of door. It is one of two double-hung wooden sash windows with 

three glass panes of translucent rather than transparent glass, two in the lower sash. The two 

windows (N1W, N2W) are separated by a short section of lap board. Both window sills are 

about three feet above the level of the finished building floor. See Figures 23 and 24. 

 Another set of taller double-hung windows are about a foot away to the west, with two panes 

in each sash (total of 4) and mulled together with wood See Figure 24. 

 The fourth door is immediately to the right of these windows. It is another flush light-green-

painted wood panel entry door, with three wooden steps ascending from the east ground level 

to a four-by-four foot porch. See Figure 24. 

To the west of this door, just past another rain spout, the siding changes from over-lapping 

cedar planks to painted white bricks. The white bricks extend for 23 feet. The features in the 

brick façade include a door with a ventilation panel above it and four windows that extend to 

the top of the wall. See Figure 25.  

 The fifth door is about another foot to the west, set flush with the brick exterior (Figure 25). 

The door’s hinges are on the left, and its sill is at ground level. Less than a foot above ground 

level the door has a rectangular louvered ventilation panel, and a wire-glass pane in the upper 

portion. Immediately above the door is a louvered transom extending up to the top plate of the 

wall (The Johnson Partnership, Appendix A Report, p. 4, Appendix 1).  

 Continuing towards the west from the last door described above, there are two separate 

windows with wire screens on the outside of each of two double-hung single pane windows set 

into the brick with brick sills. The windows extend to the top of the brick wall.  
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Figure 26 shows the contact between the brick façade and the cedar lap siding that continues 

to the western end of the Eastern Section on the north side of the building. Figure 26 also 

shows that the ventilation box in the roof is over the bricked section; the brick chimney is over 

the cedar lap siding at the west end. Two windows are set in the cedar lap section. Both are 

double hung sash windows with sills about 40 inches from the finish floor level. In Figure 26 

these are seen to extend to the eaves. 

West Side. Around the corner is the west-facing side of the Eastern Section. Its cedar lap siding has 

a ventilation panel near the roof’s apex (Figure 27). The Eastern Section abuts the The Central 

Section offset to the south, so the west end is only partly visible. The Central Section roof is clearly 

taller in Figure 18, but does not appear to be from the perspective in Figure 27. 

Central Section. This section is offset four feet to the south on the south and north sides. 

North side. Similarly, on the northern side, the Central Section is offset to the south with respect to 

the west-facing exterior wall of the Eastern Section. According to the Decatur Annex “Appendix A” 

Report by the Johnson Partnership, 2018: 

“The plate height of the elevated roof section [of] the central portion of the building measures about 

33 feet long by 24 feet wide, and is approximately three feet higher than that of the main portion of 

the building. This creates a higher offset gable roof, with the main roof continuing above a three-foot 

wide hallway on the northern side of the Central Section of the building. See Appendix 1. 

The following description is also from the Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report by the Johnson 

Partnership, 2018 (Appendix 1, this document): 

The northern façade of this portion [of the Central Section]  contains a single access door at the 

eastern end. The access door is sheltered by a four-foot-wide shed extension of the main roof. It is 

accessed by a set of stairs to the north and ramp with wooden guardrail along the northern façade to 

the west (Figure 27). Two double-hung sash windows with storm-windows are also located on the 

northern façade of the Central Section of the building (Figure 28). A clearstory of vinyl sash windows 

separates the lower main roof from the upper roof on the northern façade (also Figure 28).  

The western side of the Central Section is largely covered by the Western Section, but Figure 29 

shows what little cedar lap siding extends above the roof of the Western Section. 

Western Section.  

Northern façade. Along the northern side, there is one door on the east end, three windows 

towards the west end, and a two-foot wide extension of the Eastern Section and roof to the north, 

on the western end. Another, small wooden, roofed “shed” extends another foot or so to the north 

at the extreme western end of the northern façade with a small door cut into the wood panel door.  

A single flush white-painted wood panel door accesses the Western Section at the east end.  Its sill 

is at the finished floor level, and there are wooden steps leading to it from the east. A short, narrow 

roof extension over it contains a light fixture and provides cover from the rain (Figure 29).  

Further to the west, there are three double-hung wood sash windows with two glass panes in each 

sash and dark-green-painted frames. They are adjacent, but not mulled together, and extend to the 

top of the cedar boarding. There is a wall-mounted air conditioner just to their right (Figure 30). 

West of these windows there is about a two-foot extension of the Western Section to the north, 

with a smaller shed north of that, at the western end of the northern side (Figure 31). The last 

door, N8D, is to an electrical control panel and some pretty impressive electrical conduits. The 

door is simply cut out of the shed’s wood siding, hinged and locked. 
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Western façade. Towards the north (left) of the western side of the Western Section, the two 

wooden extensions are easily discerned because neither have the original cedar lap siding. To the 

right of these wooden extensions, the original cedar lap siding continues across the remaining 

western side. There is a wooden door in the cedar lap siding at finished floor level, with wooden 

steps starting at ground level from the south, leading to a small wooden deck at the top and door. 

To the right of the door are three boarded windows. it is also apparent that the concrete 

foundation does not extend as far above ground level as it does on the eastern end (Figure 32). 

Southern façade. The western end of the southern façade contains a set of five white vinyl double 

sash windows with a one-over-two glass pane configuration and a screened slider in the lower 

sash (Figure 33).  At the eastern end of the southern façade of the Western Section, there two 

fixed-pane vinyl sash windows with a center mullion (Figure 34). 

Central Section Redux. The southern façade of the Central Section contains a set of six mulled non-

original vinyl sash double-hung windows (Figure 35). There is one flush panel door that enters the 

Central Section from the front porch of main entrance to the Decatur Annex. 

ALTERATIONS  

The Shearwater Community Building was owned and administered by the US Navy from1947 to 

1961, when the new Decatur Elementary School was built, and the Navy turned ownership over to 

the Seattle Public School District. At this point, the Shearwater Community Building became 

known as the Decatur Annex. The following alterations are documented in The Johnson 

Partnership “Appendix A” report. 

1960, Permit # BN 3189:   

A small storage shed was moved from the western end of the subject building, but no 

photographic documentation of the shed, where it was originally located, or where it was 

moved to have been found. The only description of the change is provided in Appendix A, p. 5, 

which says, “Relocate existing maintenance shop building.” This does not sound like it is the 

same type of building as a small storage shed, so more research may be required to determine 

if it is incorporated into the Decatur Annex, or if it was totally removed from the proximity of 

the Decatur Annex. 

Under the same permit, a 22-foot long addition was constructed during the same time period 

that the Decatur Elementary School was built.  

1966, Permit # BN 26111: 

The Decatur Annex was remodeled to accommodate classrooms, including “new restrooms 

in the old kitchen area, and window-removal along the western façade.” From the report, 

“Alter. ex. building & occupy as classrooms” 

1966, Permit # BN 26747: 

“Alter. ex. building & occupy as classrooms per revision of permit BN 26111.” 

1966, Permit # BN 27123: 

This work was for parking around the Decatur Annex and did not alter the Annex itself. 

1980, no permit # provided: 

Ramps and toilets were added for accessibility by people with disabilities to the Annex. No 

indication in Appendix A as to whether the ramps were internal or external. 
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1983, Permit # 608097: 

The Decatur Annex was repurposed and remodeled to accommodate the Children’s World 

Montessori Preschool. Apparently this included a second exit from classroom 109, which 

may have altered the northern façade, but the location of the door is not identified in 

Appendix A. 

1998, Permit # 9804857: 

This Decatur Annex remodeling included the addition of two (exterior?) ramps, lowered 

the existing chimney, and added a concrete chimney cap.  

The following are visible alterations to the Decatur Annex building, not all cited in the Appendix A 

report (e.g., the roof replacement). 

• 2009. What may have been the original Decatur Annex roof was replaced in 2009.  
• “Removal and boarding up of windows on the western façade.” – Appendix A Report, p. 6 

(2018). 
• “The addition of access doors along the northern façade and off the southern front porch to 

the Central Section. 
• Replacement and alterations of windows on the southern and northern sides. [Note: the 

east end windows appear to be original.] 
• 1998. Addition of handicap access ramps and stairs to the southern and northern sides of 

Decatur Annex. 

Site alterations include  

• the original construction of the Shearwater Administration and Community Center circa 
1945. 

• the removal and relocation of the storage shed/maintenance shop. [More research is 
required to determine if it was relocated to the west end of the Annex, becoming the 
Western Section. Specific documentation of construction of the Western Section is not 
obvious from the Appendix A Report, also suggesting more research may be needed.] 

• There was a pergola (free-standing open frame structure) in front of the southern façade of 

the Western Section, and a three-foot-high white picket fence around the original Eastern 

Section. Neither by their nature, were part of the permanent building structure.  

• The pergola was removed (date?), and a section of the white picket fence along NE 77th St 
was also removed (date?). A portion of the picket fence still surrounds the eastern portion 
of the Eastern Section. 
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Significance 

Introduction 

In recent years, Seattle Public School District has commissioned several architectural firms to do 

research and provide information related to the historical integrity and significance of the Decatur 

Annex. BOLA Architecture + Planning prepared a report on the Decatur/Thornton Creek 

Elementary Schools that was completed in 2013.  Excerpts from the BOLA report were used in the 

Decatur School Annex “Appendix A” Report (January 2018) that was prepared by The Johnson 

Partnership, specifically to provide “information regarding the architectural design and historical 

significance of the Decatur School Annex in the Wedgwood neighborhood of Seattle, Washington. The 

Johnson Partnership prepared this report at the request of the Seattle Public School District.“ 

Citing both reports, the State Environmental Policy Act (SEPA) Checklist prepared by ESA (a 

private Seattle firm) in March of 2018, which stated that “Documentation of on-site conditions and 

engineering records indicate that the original design is “largely intact” even though there have 

been modifications and upgrades to the various building systems including roofing, windows, 

electrical, and interior renovations over the past 50 years (BOLA, 2013; The Johnson Partnership, 

2018). “  Between the on-site documentation in previous reports, this nomination, and an 

additional forensic investigation to be undertaken in the near future, the architectural and historic 

integrity of the Decatur Annex appears to be on solid ground. 
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Historic Neighborhood Context: Wedgwood and the City of Seattle 

Early history. The first people to live in what is now the northwestern corner of the contiguous 

United States began to inhabit the area during the terminal phase of the last glaciation, which 

happened between about 18,000 to 13,000 years ago.  

The Northwest Coast peoples adapted and lived sustainably in these resource-rich, dynamic 

ecosystems for over 10,000 years. They flourished in the area around Puget Sound, and what came 

to be Seattle, famously named after Chief Seattle, who was a Suquamish and Duwamish chief. 

The area around Sand Point, Matthews Beach, and what today is called the Wedgwood Rock (a 

large boulder left when the glaciers retreated) was a crossroads through the lush forests and bogs 

for local tribes (http://www.historylink.org/File/3462).  

Europeans, who “discovered” and spread across the continent beginning in the 1500’s, came from 

very different environments, with very different cultures, and social, and economic paradigms. 

They have lived in the Northwest for a few hundred years.  

Over time, and out of necessity, a majority of the present-day occupants are recognizing the need 

to move towards sustainable practices and an equitable society. The challenge is to change quickly 

enough to prevent the natural and social infrastructure systems from collapsing. The story below 

gives reason for hope. 

Race “Rules” during the Great Depression 

It is impossible to understand the radical nature of what happened during and after WWII in 

Seattle and Wedgwood without knowing about the rules of systemic racial discrimination before 

1940. The Great Depression created the opportunity to change some of the rules. 

The US Housing Act (AKA “Wagner-Steagall Act”) became law in 1937 with its stated purpose “To 

provide financial assistance to [state and local governments] for the elimination of unsafe and 

unsanitary housing conditions, for the eradication of slums, for the provision of decent, safe, and 

sanitary dwellings for families of low income, and for the reduction of unemployment and the 

stimulation of business activity, to create a United States Housing Authority, and for other 

purposes.”  

Racial equity was not mentioned, and implementation was given to local city governments. This 

meant that discrimination on the basis of race could be continued. And it was, except in the 

Northwest, and Seattle in particular, even in spite of laws that perpetrated segregation. 

Redlining. During the 1930’s, there were maps and reports created by the Home Owners’ Loan 

Corporation (HOLC), including for Seattle in 1936 (Figure 36), which literally used the  

color “red” to designate neighborhoods that were considered too “hazardous” to provide 

home loans to the people living there because they were people of color (Blacks, Filipinos, 

Hispanics, etc.). The result of this policy guaranteed that there were no investments, no 

improvement in living conditions, and therefore, no subsequent increase in wealth in black 

and minority neighborhoods. (c.f., UW online, Seattle Civil Rights and Labor History 

Project, Special Section Segregated Seattle: 

http://depts.washington.edu/civilr/segregated.htm; KUOW Archives online, Own a house 

in Seattle? It might have a racist past.  archives: http://archive.kuow.org/post/own-house-

seattle-it-might-have-racist-past). 
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Redlining was not officially declared “unlawful” until the Fair Housing Act of 1968 was passed. If 

people of color could not get loans to invest in their own neighborhoods, neither could they simply 

move to other communities. 

Neighborhood Covenants. A common practice with regard to housing was to enact racist covenants 

that kept non-white residents from living outside areas of central Seattle and other poor 

neighborhoods  (c.f., http://depts.washington.edu/civilr/covenants.htm).  

Below is an example of such a covenant for View Ridge Sand Point Country Club, an exclusive 

neighborhood between Wedgwood and Sand Point: 

No tract shall be sold, conveyed, rented or leased, in whole or in part, to any Hebrew or to any 

person of the Malay, Ethiopian or any other negro or any Asiatic race; or any descendant 

of any thereof, except only employees in the domestic service on [the] premises of persons 

qualifies as herein provided as occupants. 

The terminology is typical of the 1920’s through the 1940’s, in which "Hebrews" meant Jews; 
"Ethiopians" meant African ancestry; "Malays" meant Filipinos 

(http://depts.washington.edu/civilr/covenants.htm ). 

Such covenants kept people of color and Jews from living in many areas of Seattle, especially in the 
neighborhoods north of the ship canal in Seattle. The flip side of this is crystalized by one 
description of the Central District at the time – “This is the Negro area of Seattle.” 
( https://www.seattlepi.com/seattlenews/article/Here-s-how-Seattle-got-so-segregated-
10521762.php#photo-7409548 )  

Although discriminatory covenants were ruled illegal in 1948, their practice was continued 
through neighborhood councils and real estate agents.  

Sundown Laws.  “Sundown” laws prohibited non-white people from being on North Seattle streets 
after sunset. As stated in the PI in a guest opinion column by James N. Gregory, December 2006,  

“Older Seattleites who are African American or Asian American may have a different 
association [with the term “sundown.”] They remember when the ship canal was a primary 
boundary of racial segregation, when people of color could not live beyond the canal and could 
not travel in North Seattle neighborhoods after dark.”  
(https://www.seattlepi.com/local/opinion/article/Remember-Seattle-s-segregated-history-
1222098.php).    

The law was, of course, the same for workers at Sand Point NAS, who had to be on the south side of  
Montlake Bridge before sunset if they were Black or Filipino. Thus was the social, economic, and 
political context of housing and discrimination before the Second World War. 
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WWII changed everything 

Early Wedgwood development. Fast forward to 1940: a private developer named Albert Balch had 

purchased, platted, and built homes in View Ridge near Sand Point NAS before WWII. He later 

bought and platted land for his Wedgwood development on the west side of 35th Ave NE, building 

homes between NE 80th to 85th Streets, and 30th to 35th Avenues NE as early as 1941. It goes 

without saying that these homes were for white people only. Then the attack on Pearl Harbor 

happened and the country shifted gears. 

The majority of war-time Navy housing projects were built in south Seattle, West Seattle, and 

further south where most industrial manufacturing of planes and ships was centered, and where 

the burgeoning war-time workforce needed places to live.  

However, Sand Point NAS was also expanding its military and civilian work force, which therefore 

necessitated war-time housing projects in northeast Seattle: two hundred units in Cedar Vale were 

built in 1943 along 43 Ave NE between NE 73 and 74th streets for civilians who worked at Sand 

Point NAS; and the 315-unit Shearwater housing built between 1945-1946 specifically for Navy 

servicemen and their families who worked at Sandpoint (Figure 36).  

At the time, there were few houses and only dirt roads in the southeastern corner where 
Shearwater was built. Eventually all the small neighborhood housing developments, many built by 

Balch, coalesced into what was became the Wedgwood neighborhood. Most of Wedgwood was 

annexed in 1948. 

The US Navy’s Role. Recognizing the existential challenge that WWII represented, and the 

necessity to ramp up their wartime efforts and workforce as fast as possible, the US Navy 

developed a visionary new policy: racial and gender integration of its service. It implemented this 

new policy in the Pacific Northwest, specifically in the Seattle and Puget Sound area. 

US Navy leadership decided upon a holistic approach. They provided incentives and environments 

designed to attract people of color to their service, especially Filipinos and African-Americans. For 

example, Filipinos were offered American citizenship if they joined the Navy, and a 24-piece 

African-American band from Chicago arrived at Sand Point in December 1942. 

The US Navy’s holistic strategy to integrate their own workforce and onsite housing, extended to 

the Navy’s off-site housing projects, community centers, and schools where the families of military 

and civilian families lived. However, the Navy was fighting a war and needed to provide housing 

without taking on the construction and administration itself.  

Therefore, the Navy entered into contracts with the Seattle Housing Authority (SHA) to build and 

administer low-income housing projects during the war. 

Shearwater housing was designed and constructed at the end of the war in 1945, specifically for 

the military families at Sand Point. Only nine had moved in by the end of the year (SHA Annual 

Report #8, 1948). The end of the war did not end the urgent need for low-income housing; the 

Shearwater project ultimately included 315 homes, mostly two-story, multi-family units. The 

housing was temporary by design, but remained in use long after the war out of necessity. 

In contrast to the housing, the Shearwater Administration Building and Community Center was 

designed and built to be a permanent addition to the neighborhood. This was SHA policy during 

the post-war period (Seattle Housing Authority 8th Annual Report, 1948). The role the Navy played 

in the racial integration of Seattle public housing is only half of the story. 
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Seattle Housing Authority’s (SHA) Role. The Navy’s policy dovetailed with the equalitarian and 

democratic vision of one Seattle man, Jesse Epstein. Epstein was a lawyer who had worked hard to 

create the Seattle Housing Authority in order for Seattle to qualify for Federal funds for low-

income housing (Wagner-Seagull Act of 1937).  

The Yesler Terrace Housing Project was the first of these, built in 1940. A significant aspect of the 

Yesler Terrace Housing project was Epstein’s belief that it is “the right of all citizens to benefit 

equally from government-funded low-income housing…”  To Epstein it was “self-evident and 

debate unnecessary.” In a 1973 interview, Epstein said, “So far as racial composition or 

considerations were concerned, I made the decision administratively, early, that there would be no 

discrimination, no segregations…” (John Caldbick, 2014: http://www.historylink.org/File/10940, 

Retrieved August 5, 2018). 

With the advent of WWII, funds for civilian housing projects were diverted to military housing 

projects. The Shearwater Administration and Community Center embodies a fascinating, but 

under-reported history, not only of the Navy’s new policy of racial integration, but also of how it  

leveraged Seattle Housing Authority’s integration policies under Jesse Epstein (and vice versa), 
One might say his appointment as the first Executive Director of the SHA in 1939 was “just in 

time.” 

Seattle Housing Authority Reports: The War Years 

The SHA reports include evaluations of their non-discrimination policies, which they had 

“scrupulously adhered to…in the housing of families in all of their projects.” Addressing race, they 

report that 

“Negroes, as well as other racial groups who [had been brought to Seattle by the US 

Employment Service] worked side by side in this city’s war industries with white 

workers… Workers represented all races from [every part of the country] and all types of 

backgrounds…farmers, businessmen, laboring men, housewives, Alaskan Indians and 

Alabama Negroes…Each of them needed housing. Their eligibility for war housing units 

was never considered on the basis of race, creed, religion or politics, but rather on their 

contribution to the war effort. “ 

“Never at any time during the war period did the SHA have any serious racial difficulty in 

its family projects.”  

One reason suggested for peaceful relations credited the workers themselves:  

“…everyone was intent on doing his job, and appreciated that his neighbor was there for 

the same purpose.” 

Another reason gave credit to “an alert management: 

“An alert management frankly discussed its non-segregation policy with any resident who 

expressed an interest, or wanted a question answered. Any sign of friction was quickly 

dispelled by this forthright policy. Problems were openly met, and tenants were quick to 

realize that all persons housed by the SHA were equally essential in the important business 

of producing war goods.” 

The expectation was that each person would be considerate of his or her neighbors, and they were. 
All the SHA housing projects included racial minority groups, which “proved to be not only feasible 
but administratively most practical.” Also obvious in the reports is that the principle of non- 
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discrimination was part and parcel with the provisioning. Figure 36 is the cover of the 1945 Sixth 
Annual Seattle Housing Report, featuring a diverse group of young children. 

SHA Annual Reports. Between 1940 and 1945, the population of Seattle grew from 368,000 to 

475,000 (SHA Annual Report #6, 1945). The reports document not only how the increasing 

population was housed, but also details of the numbers of people by locations and races working 

in either military or civilian capacities, of housing units provided and occupied over time, and of 

the costs and benefits accrued by the provision of war-time, low-cost housing.  

There were two types of war housing built: temporary and permanent. Only veterans and military 

families were eligible for temporary housing, which was “lightly constructed of wartime materials 

and built to last only five years.” Permanent housing was made of standard materials and methods. 

Figure 37 is the cover for the SHA Housing the People, Sixth Annual Report (1945). 

Role of Community Centers. In a page out of the 1945 SHA Annual Report  there is a description of 
what community centers like Shearwater’s, provided to the families living in Navy housing. 
Community centers had libraries and librarians, reading clubs in association with public schools, 
medical support such as screenings by the Anti-Tuberculosis League of King County and Well-Baby 
Clinics, and free medical examination from the Seattle Public Health Department,  sports leagues, 
religious services under the guidance of the Seattle Council of Churches, and individual 
recreational activities.  
Just as important is how people actually used community centers as an “extension of their own 
living rooms…for weddings, christenings, private parties, birthday celebrations and wedding 
anniversary parties…” Cynthia Mejia-Giudici remembers the potlucks and birthday parties that her 
own family enjoyed the most (personal communication, August 7, 2018). 
From the perspective of the Seattle Housing Authority, community centers were intended to 
function “to help residents who were new to the city and experienced a feeling of insecurity…to 
find stability in a community which offered them the chance to integrate their activities first 
through project activities, and then into the city itself “ (SHA Annual Report, 1945). 

After the war. As the years went by, and the war ended, two problems emerged with the 

temporary housing: maintenance costs rose, and so did pressure to clear them away. Some the 

earliest temporary buildings built (in 1941) were already eight years old and maintenance costs 

were increasing as a result, from $35 per dwelling in 19944-45 to $114 per dwelling unit in 1948-

49. The other problem was the pressure from local community groups and developers to demolish 

the temporary buildings so as to improve the appearance of the neighborhood and clear the land 

for  new homes (Figure 38, SHA Annual Report #8, 1948). 

However, even after the war, there was still a great need for low-income housing. The Navy and 

the SHA had a responsibility to the families in temporary low-cost houses, many of which did not 

make enough to pay the higher rental costs elsewhere, according to a joint survey conducted by 

the SHA and the University of Washington (SHA Annual Report, 1948). The SHA had to wait for 

families to move into affordable permanent housing. 

Potent Combination. Military leaders at Sand Point NAS, and civilian leaders at the Seattle Housing 

Authority both had the financial resources to meet urgent housing needs thanks to the Federal 

government’s responses first, to the Great Depression, and then to WWII. Motives aside, they both 
shared the radical objective of racial integration, which facilitated the design and construction of 

integrated work, housing, schools, and community centers.  

The outcomes were the first successful experiences of racial integration in the United States. We 

have a local example in the racial diversity of the Shearwater Housing Project, elementary schools,  
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and Shearwater Community Center in the Wedgwood neighborhood. The Shearwater Community 

Center (AKA Decatur Annex) is the last building standing that was witness to the first shift towards 

a peaceful and multi-cultural society implemented by visionary military and civic leaders without 

fanfare or violence. 

Architecture. The architecture is not particularly special, nor is the building of superior 
construction. The Shearwater Community Center/Decatur Annex was built with standard 
American materials and methods representative of a “typical vernacular tradition with lap siding 
and double-hung windows placed for functionality.” The style is typical of its time, and arguably less 
visually jarring in the neighborhood than some of the new houses built on small Wedgwood lots.  

Conclusion 

World War II profoundly affected the Seattle area by necessitating a burst of manufacturing, a surge 
in population, and because of Navy policies and the Seattle Housing Authority, racial integration. 
What is today the Wedgwood Neighborhood was a nexus of these changes due to its proximity to 
the Sand Point Naval Air Station on Lake Washington. The Sand Point Naval Air Station and 
Magnuson Park was designated as a Seattle Landmark District in 2011.  

The Shearwater Community Center/Decatur Annex also merits landmark status:  

• At 5,784 square feet, it is well over 4000 square feet in area;  

• Built in 1945, Decatur Annex is 73 years old;  

• As the Shearwater Community Center it was the neighborhood meeting place for one of the 

first integrated neighborhoods in the Nation – the Shearwater Housing Project,  which 

became an annex to one of the first integrated schools in the country, Decatur Elementary ;  

• Historical integrity is intact (essentially the same as when built);  

• Able to convey its significance because it has been used for educational purposes for the last 

fifty years. 

The Shearwater Community Center/ Decatur Annex also meets the following criteria: 

(A) It is significantly associated with the Sand Point Naval Air Station and WWII. It was the 

community center for the Navy’s Shearwater Housing project designed and built for military 

families who worked at Sand Point NAS. 

Military Context: World War II and the Navy’s Sand Point Naval Air Station (NAS). The 

history of the Sand Point NAS is so compelling that Sand Point and Magnuson Park have 

been designated a historic landmark district (c.f., Friends of Sand Point Naval Air Station, 

http://www.sandptnavsta.org/_home/home.php).  

(C) Not to diminish its patriotic historical association with the Navy and WWII, Decatur Annex 

has another, longer-term, significant historic association because of its relationship with the 

Navy. When it was the Shearwater Community Center, it played a role in one of the major social, 

cultural, and economic changes of the 20th Century: desegregation.  

Social Context: Redlining, discriminatory housing covenants, and sunset laws were deeply 

embedded, systemic racist practices in Seattle and the country in 1940. Yet, Shearwater 

Community Center, built in 1945, was an integrated community center, in one of the first 

integrated neighborhoods, along side one of the first integrated  schools in America.  
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Association #1, US Navy. The Navy’s early inclusion of culturally and ethnically diverse 

people including many Filipino and African-Americans was a bold policy for the time, but so 

thoughtfully implemented that it was also successful.  

Association #2, Seattle Housing Authority.  The Navy’s housing was built and administered 

by the Seattle Housing Authority (SHA). Jesse Epstein was the first Executive Director of the 

Seattle Housing Authority and he believed in non-discrimination policies for pubic housing, 

whether it was for civilian or military people. His leadership guaranteed that the Navy’s non-

discrimination policies would be implemented in their housing projects, in the same way 

that Jessie Epstein built desegregated public housing in Yesler Terrace. 

(D) Decatur Annex is a modest, but attractive, sturdy one-story “vernacular” building with many 

large windows, pitched-roof, cedar lap siding style on a concrete foundation with crawlspace. 

No architectural wonder, it fits the esthetics of the neighborhood better than some of the new 

houses that clash stylistically with homes that were built during the second half of the 20th 

Century in northeast Seattle. 

(F) The Shearwater Community Center is an easily identifiable corner building at 7711 43rd Ave 

NE, next to a beautiful tree, and was the neighborhood meeting place for a diverse community 

during and after WWII.  
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Figures (including photographs) 
 

                           
Figure 1. Wedgwood location                    Figure 2. Wedgwood in relation to the Northeast District Council,  
within the city limits of Seattle.                 neighborhoods in the NE quadrant. Source: Seattle City Clerk. 
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Figure 3.  Street map of Wedgwood. The red arrow shows the location of Decatur Annex. The 

whole block is the site of the majority of Shearwater housing. 

 

North 

North 



 
Figure 4. North is to the left.  This is a 1963 aerial image looking across Shearwater housing 
towards Sand Point NAS, at the top left of the photo (blue arrow). Decatur Elementary School is the 
long white-roofed building, center left. Decatur Annex is just south of it (red arrow). Shearwater 
barracks nearly surround the entire school and annex buildings. 
 

 
Figure 5. Aerial view showing that years after Decatur Elementary School had been built in 1961, 
Shearwater housing and Community Center remained in use. City of Seattle Archives, 1965. 
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Figure 6. Location of Decatur Annex and Sand Point NAS north of Seattle (Google Earth (2018). 
 

Figure 7. Google Earth image of Decatur Annex and Sand Point Historic District. 
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Figure 8. Plan view of Decatur Elementary School (gold arrow), Thornton Creek Elementary School (inside blue arrows), 

and the Decatur Annex (red arrow), downloaded from Google Earth (USGS image, 2018).  
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Figure 9. Image of Seattle land surface shape (topography) illustrating the elongate hills 
(drumlinoid hills) and valleys resulting from advancing and retreating glaciers. Blue arrow 
indicates location of Decatur Annex (left end) and Sand Point NAS (right end). 
 

                                                      
Figure 10. Close up of LIDAR image. Decatur is at the left end of the arrow; Sand Point NAS, the 
area at the right end of the arrow. 
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Figure 11. Geologic map of NE Seattle. The red arrow points between Decatur Annex and Sand Point NAS. 
Light purple areas are covered by glacial till, a hard-packed, poorly-sorted deposit formed under a glacier. Whatever 
sediments are trapped under the ice–rocks, sand, clay-get compressed into a conglomerate called “till” by the weight of 
the glacier as it rolls over the land.  
Blue areas are sandy layers formed by braided melt-water streams that carry and then deposit silt, sand, and pebbles in 
front of the advancing/retreating glaciers. 
Green areas are finer-grained clays and silts deposited where melt-water accumulated in front of the glacier. 
 

 
Figure 12. Light green area shows proximity of Thornton Creek Watershed. 
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Figure 13. Close up of Decatur Annex, plan view. North is towards the top of the image. The three 
sections are clearly visible: Eastern (right), Central, Western (left). Google Maps, 2018. 
 

 
Figure 14. Floor plan of the Decatur Annex as of 1998, including all three sections. Exterior doors, ramps, 
and windows are indicated, as well as interior hallways, mechanical room, offices, storage, and classrooms. 
(See Appendix 1). 
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Figure 15. Google Maps image of the south side of Decatur Annex from the West, looking East along 
NE 77th Street. 
 

 
Figure 16. Google Maps image of the north side of Decatur Annex from the East, looking West from 

43rd Ave NE, along the open space between the Decatur Annex and Decatur Elementary School to 

the North (right side of image). 
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Figure 17. A tilted Google Maps image of Decatur Annex from the East (bottom) to the West (top).  
This perspective highlights the three sections of the building, provides a view of the roof and its 
different elevations and extensions, and the concrete-covered chimney, and vent box in the 
Eastern Section (original Shearwater Community Center). The lighter-colored roofing material on 
Decatur Annex today replaced the original asphalt roofing in 2009. 
On the North side of Decatur, there are short roof extensions to provide small porches for two door 
accesses into the Central and Western Sections, plus an extension over the offset to the north on 
the Western Section’s northern exposure. On the South side of Decatur, there is a slightly 
shallower slope to the roof that covers the main entrance and porch area of the original 
Shearwater Community Center. 
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Figure 18. South street view of the original Shearwater Community Center. Three long concrete steps lead 
up to the porch and main entrance, under an extended roof supported by two green-painted wooden posts.  

 

 
Figure 19. The southeast corner of the Eastern Section, which is also the original Shearwater 
Community Center. 
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Figure 20. East side of Decatur Annex, East Section. Note peeling paint, including around the windows, and 
the concrete foundation at the base of the wooden frame structure. 

 

 
Figure 21. Close up of the northeast pair of windows on the East side of Decatur in Figure 20. The windows 
have not been replaced by vinyl or aluminum, it is not clear whether these windows date from 1945 or were 
replacement wood windows in 1961 (see Appendix 1). 
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Figure 22. Eastern Section, north side, east end, door (L) at ground level; door (R) at finished floor level. 
  

 
Figure 23. Eastern Section, north side, image overlaps with Figure 22, showing green door at finished floor 
level, wooden steps to it, two windows, secure boarded crawlspace opening in foundation, and a vent.  
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Figure 24. East Section, North side, overlaps Figure 23: L to R are two three-sash windows, two four-sash 
windows mulled together, a green door at finished floor level, wooden steps and deck to the green door. 

 

 
Figure 25. East Section, N side, overlaps Figure 24. Siding is brick masonry. Note white door at ground level 
with inset vent and window; ventilation extends from the door to the roof; two aluminum-screened, 
aluminum sash windows with brick window sills. Box vent, concrete-capped chimney visible on roof. 
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Figure 26. The Eastern Section, north side, west end, and just around the corner is the Central Section.  
The window in the brick part of the exterior wall (L) overlaps with Figure 25. Here, brick abuts a short 
section of cedar lap siding (R) which has two single-hung, two-sash vinyl windows with green wood trim. 
 

 
Figure 27. The wall on the left side of this image is the extent of the Eastern Section’s West side. The  
Central Section is offset to the south about three feet, with a lower roof that has two elevations. 
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Figure 28. Central Section, North side, showing higher and lower roof elevations. There is row of short wide 
windows above the lower roof, and two single-hung, wooden two-sash windows, green trim below it. 
 

 
Figure 29. Western extent of the Central Section on the North side ends where the lower roof elevation to 
the right abuts the higher elevation on the left side of image. The lower roof elevation on the north extends 
west to the end of the Western Section. The door at finished floor level opens into the Western Section. To 
the door’s right is a wooden, single-hung, four-sash window, which is contiguous to adjacent windows to the 
West (next figure 30). 
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Figure 30. Central Section, Northern Exposure, West Side, showing the three wooden windows mulled 
together. At the right in the image is the only eastern exposure of the Western Section, which extends about 
a foot further north than the Central Section. Note the concrete foundation is shorter at this end.  
 

 
Figure 31. Western Section, North side, West end. The main structural feature is the short extension of the 
end of the Western Section’s northern wall and roof towards the North by about a foot. The box on the wall 
to the right of the windows is an air conditioner. The tall wooden unit on the right houses the electrical 
utility panel.  
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Figure 32. Western Section, West Side. Asymmetrical roof, unlike the symmetrical East Side. Left side door is 
at the finished floor level, reached by wooden steps and deck. To the right of the door are three boarded 
windows, and to left of the door is what appears to be an enclosed area used for electrical utilities.  
 

 
Figure 33. Southwest corner of the Western Section, showing new replacement vinyl windows. These are the 
only windows that do not have green-painted wooden frames. 

                                                                                                                                                                          43  



 
Figure 34. Central Section, close up of a replaced vinyl window on the east side of the  
Southern Façade of the Central Section. It shows red trim on the outside, which may or may not be 
significant historically.  
 

 
Figure 35. Central Section, south side. There are seven contiguous windows on this side (four behind 

shrubbery). The original windows have been replaced with double hung two-sash vinyl windows, framed 

and mulled together with green-painted wood. 
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Figure 36. This 1936 map ranks the safety of loan investments by color for banks to use as criteria for 

providing home loans. The red areas were labeled “Hazardous.” In 1936 Seattle city limits did not extend 

north of NE 65th Street Source: http://archive.kuow.org/post/own-house-seattle-it-might-have-racist-past  

 

http://archive.kuow.org/post/own-house-seattle-it-might-have-racist-past


  Figure 37. Cover of the 6th Annual Report of the Housing           Figure 38.  
Number of families that the Seattle Housing Authority placed   
Authority of the City of Seattle, 1945.                                                   in Navy and City subsidized housing – 11,188 war workers,   
                                                                                                                          852 veterans, 2,548 service men, between 1941 and 1945. 
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Figure 39. After the war, housing for low-income families in Seattle was still needed. This is the 
cover to the 1948 SHA Annual report. 
 

 
Figure 40. Image from the 1948 Seattle Housing Authority Annual Report. 
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Appendix 1 
 

The Johnson Report (January 2018).   

Decatur Annex “Appendix A” Report.   
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